1368-9

IN THE APPELLATE COURTS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE MCNAUGHTON GROUP, LLC, A Washington Limited Liability Company,

Respondent

v.

HAN ZIN PARK AND REGINA KYUNG PARK, Husband and Wife, and the Marital Community Property Comprised Thereof,



CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON, OF Petitioners

Appeal from Washington Appellate Court Division One 70064-2-1

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jamie Jensen Mukilteo Law Office PO Box 105 4605 116th Street SW, Suite 101 Mukilteo, Washington 98275-0105 (425) 212-2100

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Dr. Han Zin Park and Regina Kyung Park, husband and wife, ask this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this Petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Parks negotiated to sell their homestead to a developer in 2005. The sale did not go through due to documentation issues and the developer sued the Parks. Through pretrial motions, and through trial, the courts found that the Parks had not pleaded an affirmative defense, that the contract, lacking a legal description, but shown through parol evidence, was still complete, that the opposing party could call the Park's former counsel to come to court and testify over their objections, and that "bad acts" from 30 years earlier was admissible, in addition to other determinations. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial courts.

The Parks seek review of the decision that:

- A real estate contract that does not have a legal description, but that directs parties to a document that does not actually exist is sufficient to satisfy the Statute of Frauds;
- Notice of an affirmative defense that comes nine months prior to trial is insufficient notice;
- Parol evidence can be used to save a deficient contract from the Statute of Frauds;
- **4.** Opposing counsel can subpoen aformer counsel and cause them to testify for the opposition and that 30 year old "bad acts" are admissible to show continuity with current actions.

The decision of the appellate court was filed on March 31, 2014. Motions for Reconsideration and for Publication were timely filed but were denied on May 2, 2014. Copies of the decisions are in the Appendix at pages A-1 through 16 and 17. A copy of the order denying petitioner's motion for reconsideration is in the Appendix at page A-18.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The trial court erred by failing to grant summary judgment to the Parks on a real estate contract that had no legal description and no proper reference to another document that had a legal description. This court has consistently held that a real estate contract must have a full legal description in order for the contract to satisfy the statute of frauds. There is one exception to this rule. If the contract does not have a legal description the contract can refer to another document that does have the legal description. The contract between the Parks and TMG did not have a legal description. TMG succeeded in arguing a link between the completed contract and the unexecuted negotiations for the property that had failed to create a contract six months earlier. If reference is made to another document to supply a legal description must that other document actually exist?

2. The lower courts erred by setting up a new standard for the timing of the presentation of affirmative defenses, apparently determining that affirmative defenses must be pleaded prior to the end of discovery rather than at a time which would allow the opposing party sufficient time to respond prior to trial.

The presentation of an affirmative defense, which must be pleaded prior to trial, is timely if it is presented with enough time for the opposing party to prepare for the issue prior to trial. Should that rule change now so that affirmative defenses must be pleaded prior to the end of discovery, regardless of other notice or proximity to trial?

3. The trial court erred by accepting parol evidence to link a real estate contract to another document, which then linked to another set of papers that did not create a contract, to supply the legal description to the contract, all over the objection of the Parks.

TMG needed parol evidence to link the signed contract to an Addendum B, then further parol evidence to link Addendum B to the paperwork from the prior negotiations in order to satisfy the statute of frauds. Can parol evidence now be used to satisfy the statute of frauds?

4. The appellate court erred by allowing prejudicial 30 year old character evidence that was not linked in any way to the case, in violation of Rule 404, ER, and the ordering of the Parks' former counsel to testify for TMG against the Parks' direct wishes, both over the Parks' strenuous objections.

The rules of evidence prohibit the presentation of prior bad acts to prove compliance therewith in a particular case. Here, TMG was allowed, over the objections of the Parks, to elicit testimony of an unrelated case from 30 years earlier without even attempting to prove motive, opportunity, or any other exception to the rule. TMG was also allowed to force the Parks former counsel to come and testify against the objections of the Parks. Can a party get a fair hearing when the trial judge continually allows inadmissible and prejudicial evidence to be heard by the jury?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Han and Regina Parks (the "Parks") sold their land to The McNaughton Group, LLC ("TMG"), a real estate development firm in Edmonds, Washington, in 2005. The sale did not close and TMG brought this action.

The contract between the parties did not contain a legal description. The Parks brought a motion for summary judgment, claiming the contract was void due to the Statute of Frauds. TMG argued that the contract referenced another document that had the legal description.

The trial court determined that the Parks had not presented the affirmative defense of Statute of Frauds in a timely manner and denied summary judgment. TMG then brought a motion for summary judgment but was denied by the court that stated that its Addendum B, a document that is necessary to connect the contract to the legal description, was not a part of the contract.

The matter proceeded to trial. The Parks were not allowed to argue the Statute of Frauds or the disputed purchase price.

TMG brought in evidence that the Parks had engaged in similar conduct over 30 years earlier on another property.

TMG also obtained an order from the trial court forcing the Parks' former counsel to come to court to testify on behalf of TMG. The Parks objected. The jury verdict, in favor of TMG, was for over \$900,000.00. The Parks appealed but did not prevail.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED Facts

At the outset the relative negotiating disparity between the parties should be understood. TMG proclaimed itself the largest developer in Snohomish County. [RP 108]. It employed dozens of people, including two attorneys and several other parties with significant real estate experience Conversely, the Parks had both been born and had their early education in South Korea. [RP 368] They were both medical professionals at the University of Washington. [RP 373,584-5] They had sold one other parcel of land in Washington State approximately 30 years earlier. [RP 785]

Prior Decisions by the Supreme Court

The Supreme Court has a number of pillars of law that it jealously defends in order to simplify the cases that come before it. Any time there is a deviation from one of the pillars of law the court is firm in maintaining its desired position. One of those pillars of law is a requirement that any real estate contract coming before the court must have a complete legal description. If the document is lacking a complete legal description then the the court will consider the contract to be void. A second pillar of law is a requirement that parol evidence may not be used to save a contract from the operation of the Statute of Frauds. These pillars have existed in this state for well over 100 years.

For the most part, the lower courts will follow the pillars of law set by this court but, on occasion, the lower courts will lose focus of the pillars and will deviate from the direction provided by this court in order to achieve an unmerited, but easier to digest, result. That deviation occurred in this case. The lower court labored the facts to find a legal description where none existed.

This court has recently taken an opportunity to affirm its position on both legal descriptions and parol evidence, as it applies to the Statute of Frauds. *Kofmehl v. Baseline Lake, LLC*, 305 P.3d 230, 177 Wn.2d 584 (Wash. 2013) Nonetheless, the lower court found its own exception and diluted this court's pillars of law.

Argument

1. Statute of Frauds

The alleged agreement between the parties in this case is void for failure to satisfy the Statute of Frauds. The document does not contain a legal description and there is no proper reference to a correct legal description.

A legal description is a way of describing real property that is a great deal more accurate than using an address. For a real estate contract

to be valid each contract must have a legal description. A contract that does not include a legal description is void.

Since the contract is in violation of the statute of frauds, it is void and cannot form the basis of an action at law to recover damages for the breach thereof, as such an action presupposes a valid contract.

Schweiter v. Halsey, 359 P.2d 821, 57 Wn.2d 707 (Wash. 1961) quoting Martin v. Seigel, 212 P.2d 107, 35 Wn.2d 223 (Wash. 1949); and "An agreement containing an inadequate legal description is void." Maier v. Giske, 223 P.3d 1265, 154 Wn.App. 6 (Wash.App. Div. 1 2010) quoting Howell v. Inland Empire Paper Co., 28 Wash.App. 494, 498, 624 P.2d 739 (1981).

There is no question of fact regarding the existence of the legal description in the contract between these parties in this action. The contract has no legal description.

The plaintiff in this case, TMG, never alleged the existence of a legal description but instead attempted to fit under an exception to the rule. The exception allows that a contract can be held complete if the contract refers to another document that does have the legal description.

TMG appears to have gone looking for a complete legal description, then searched for some way to connect that legal description to the contract. In the earlier negotiations between the parties in 2004 the incomplete documentation included legal descriptions. TMG hoped to

draw those legal descriptions from the previous incomplete negotiations into its contract by references in an Addendum B. There are a number of issues with this claim that cause it to fail. The Addendum B states that:

In the event, if there arise any dispute over the scope of the applicable clauses on Specific terms of Addendum, 1 through 14, dated 2/19/2005 Precious (previous) agreement executed on September 8, 2004, page 1 through 13, supercedes and replaces any provision on the topics contained in purchase and sale agreement proposed and executed on February 19, 2005.

Each phrase of this sentence appears to be in error.

First, the face of the contract does not reference an Addendum B. Second, TMG alleges that their Addendum B is really the counter addendum referenced on page one. TMG's argument is that its Addendum B has the word "counteroffer" handwritten into the body of the addendum, thereby making it the "counter addendum." Third, the Addendum B that is proposed by TMG states, in its title, that it is an addendum to an agreement "dated 2/19/05." There is no agreement dated 2/19/05 between these parties. Fourth, this Addendum B requires that all disputes between the parties be settled by the language in an agreement that was executed on September 8, 2004. But there was no agreement executed on September 8, 2004 and no document has been attached to this contract to show the elements of that older document. Without a legal description in the contract and without a firm connection between the contract and another existing document that includes the legal description the contract fails for violation of the Statute of Frauds.

2. Affirmative Defense

Failing to plead an affirmative defense also requires surprise

before it can defeat a position.

It is to avoid surprise that certain defenses are required by CR 8(c) to be pleaded affirmatively.... Where a failure to plead a defense affirmatively does not affect the substantial rights of the parties, the noncompliance will be considered harmless.

Mahoney v. Tingley, 529 P.2d 1068, 85 Wn.2d 95 (Wash. 1975)

Also, objection to a failure to comply with the rule is waived where there is written and oral argument to the court without objection on the legal issues raised in connection with the defense.

Supra.

There is a need for such flexibility in procedural rules. In the present case, the record shows that a substantial portion of plaintiff's trial memorandum and the entire substance of the hearing on summary judgment concerned the effect of the liquidated damages clause. To conclude that defendants are precluded from relying upon that clause as a defense would be to impose a rigid and technical formality upon pleadings which is both unnecessary and contrary to the policy underlying CR 8(c), and we refuse to reach such a result.

Henderson v. Tyrrell, 910 P.2d 522, 80 Wn.App. 592 (Wash.App. Div. 3 1996).

The Parks pleaded the failure of the contract in their initial pleadings in this case. The Parks then brought a motion for summary judgment, pleading that the contract violated the statute of frauds. That motion was brought nearly three weeks before the end of discovery. Based on that motion, TMG argued the elements of the contract. TMG was not surprised by the Parks' pleadings.

The appellate court, however, followed the erroneous logic of the trial court which found that the Parks had scheduled their motion for summary judgment to be heard after the end of discovery. There is no rule that states that an affirmative defense must be pleaded prior to the end of discovery. This is a new clause created by the trial court, which should not become part of Washington jurisprudence. The rule is that an affirmative defense has to be pleaded with sufficient notice for the opposing party to present a defense. That was done here.

3. Parol Evidence

Parol evidence would be required to attach Addendum B to the contract to supply the legal description by reference. TMG would have to explain how the title of the document, "Addendum B", should be read to mean "counter addendum" on page one of the contract, why the dates refer to non-existent documents, and why all disputes are to be resolved by reference to an improperly dated and unattached document.

The general prohibition in this area of law is that a contract must stand on its own terms. If parol testimony is needed to understand the contract then the contract is void.

The rule that where a contract upon its face is incomplete resort may be had to parol evidence to supply the omitted stipulation applies only in cases unaffected by the statute of frauds. If the subject matter of the contract is within the statute of frauds and the contract or memorandum is deficient in some one or more of those essentials required by the statute, parol evidence cannot be received to supply the defects, for this would be to do the very thing prohibited by the statute.

Martin, supra, quoting 22 C.J. 1290, § 1719.

Addendum B is not a lawful part of the contract. This effort fails to provide the court with a complete legal description. Without a proper legal description, either by including the lot and block numbers, or by proper reference to an existing document that contain the legal description, the contract in this case is void.

In summary, the contract that is the basis for this lawsuit is void as a matter of law since it has no legal description and the exception to the legal description rule is not applicable here. For these reasons the contract is void and cannot be the basis for recovery by the buyer.

The rule of law in Washington State is that the buyer of real property who puts down earnest money on a real estate contract is barred from obtaining restitution of his payments if the contract is later found to be void due to the statute of frauds. In this case TMG put down earnest money with the Parks and expended other funds and sought a refund of those payments. Since the contract is void due to the statute of frauds TMG is barred from obtaining restitution in all cases except where the seller defaults.

In the very recent case of Kofmehl v. Baseline Lake, LLC, 87395-0,

the Supreme Court held that:

Under this Court's prior cases, a buyer in a land sale contract that is unenforceable under the statute of frauds may not recover restitution if the vender is ready willing and able to perform under the terms of the contract.

Citing Schweiter v. Halsey, 359 P.2d 821, 57 Wn.2d 707 (Wash. 1961).

5. Errors In Trial Conduct

ERROR IN ORDERING FORMER COUNSEL TO TESTIFY

TMG sought to subpoen the former counsel for the Parks to testify about the case. The testimony of the former counsel was objected to by the Parks. Rule 1.6 RPC

In response to a subpoena from TMG, the former counsel to the Parks, Gregory Home (Home) contacted the Washington State Bar Association and was informed that he should ignore the subpoena unless the court issued a direct order requiring him to testify. Over the objections of the Parks, Judge Okrent did in fact issue such an order, requiring said former counsel to testify before the jury, as requested by TMG. This whole scene must have been grossly confusing to a jury which had heard the Parks objection to the testimony of the former counsel.

The rule in this matter is RCW 5.60.060(2)(a) which states:

An attorney or counselor shall not, without the consent of his or her client, be examined as to any communication made by the client to him or her, or his or her advice given thereon in the course of professional employment.

See also *Dietz v. Doe*, 935 P.2d 611, 131 Wn.2d 835 (Wash. 1997), *Pappas v. Holloway*, 787 P.2d 30, 114 Wn.2d 198 (Wash. 1990).

In this case the court clearly violated the Parks' rights by ordering the former counsel to testify. It then doubled its injury to the Parks by prohibiting the witness from testifying when it became clear that the Parks were ready to present advantageous evidence.

The next question is what to do with this situation. The Parks believe that the actions of the trial court amount to reversible error since the court applied an erroneous view of the law to the disadvantage of the Parks. Clearly, the actions of the trial court were prejudicial to the Parks and so confusing to the jury as to give the appearance of favoritism of the court to TMG and against the Parks. This situation is reviewed de novo but may also be viewed as an abuse of discretion by the trial court.

Thus, the abuse of discretion standard gives deference to a trial court's fact-specific determination . . . while permitting reversal

where an incorrect legal standard is applied. If, however, a pure question of law is presented . . . a de novo standard of review should be applied as to that question.

Dix v. ICT Group, Inc., 161 P.3d 1016, 160 Wn.2d 826 (Wash. 2007)

ERROR IN ADMITTING IRRELEVANT EVIDENCE

During the trial in this case the plaintiff offered evidence from two other real estate transactions involving the Parks, plus disclosure that the Parks had been involved in seven or more other lawsuits. The two transactions and the other law suits had nothing to do with this transaction with TMG. They were admittedly offered to show that Dr. Park had difficulty on two other unrelated transactions. These should not have been allowed as evidence.

The Parks objected strenuously to the offer of this evidence but it was allowed by the court. This evidence should have been excluded and a limiting instruction should have been offered.

The rules of evidence state that:

Evidence of a person's character or a trait of character is not admissible for the purpose of proving action in conformity there with on a particular occasion." Rule 404 (a) ER.

The rules also state that:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of the person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident. Rule 404(b) ER.

The two pieces of evidence involved real estate transactions where the Parks had disputes with the other parties to the contract. Evidence of other acts or character traits is inadmissible. Yet that is the sole reason for TMG's offer of the evidence. TMG's counsel took the exact course of action that is prohibited by the rules of evidence, trying to link other unrelated cases to this case to show that the Parks have a reputation for this type of conduct and that they must have been acting in conformity therewith. The exact wording of the rule says that it is not admissible to show conformity. The Parks must have a new trial to cleanse the error of TMG's counsel and of the trial court.

VI CONCLUSION

The lower courts' decision cannot stand. Pleading affirmative defenses is not limited to the time before the end of discovery. A contract that has no legal description is void. Parol evidence may not be used to save a contract from the operation of the Statute of Frauds. A fair trial requires adherence to the rules of evidence. This matter should be reviewed and those parts of the decision that are not in agreement with direction from this court should be overturned.

DATED this $\frac{2}{2}$ day of $\overline{\sqrt{2}}$, 2014.

•

MUKILTEO LAW OFFICE, PLLC
4605 116 th Street SW
Suite 101
Mukilteo, Washington 98275
425-212-2100
By MUNU DUNA
Jamie Jensen, Attorney for Han and Regina Park
WSBA No. 40475