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

V. ARGUMENT 

Review of the McNaughton case should be denied because 

the Parks do not demonstrate that the decision satisfies any ground 

on which review can be granted. RAP 13 .4(b ). In fact, the Parks 

fail to offer any argument related to the grounds for review by the 

Supreme Court. Even if review is granted, the McNaughton 

decision should be upheld because the Parks have asserted the 

same meritless claims that have been repeatedly dismissed in the 

lower courts and have asserted a new claim for the first time on 

appeal. 

A. Review Should Not be Granted Because the Parks Fail 
to Establish a Ground on Which Review Can be 
Granted 

The Parks did not meet their burden of proving that this 

case is appropriate for review. Review will be granted only if the 

petitioner demonstrates that at least one of the following grounds 

for review is met: (1) the decision conflicts with a Supreme Court 
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decision; (2) the decision conflicts with another Court of Appeals 

decision; (3) the decision involves a significant question of 

constitutional law; or ( 4) the decision raises an issue of substantial 

public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. 

RAP 13 .4(b) (emphasis added). 

Here, the Parks did not demonstrate that review should be 

granted based on one of the grounds for review. Rather, the Parks 

requested review on the basis of a "pillars of law" theory, which 

claims that the Supreme Court 'jealously defends" cases that come 

before it to maintain its "desired position" on certain pillars of law, 

including legal description for real property and the parol evidence 

rule. Park Petition, p. 9-10. Although the Parks correctly state real 

estate contracts must have legal descriptions, this "pillar of the 

law" does not satisfy a ground for review. Review should not be 

granted on the basis of the parol evidence rule pillar because it is 

unfounded in this case and it is raised for the first time on appeal. 

Accordingly, the Parks' "pillars of law" theory does not satisfy any 

of the grounds for review. 

Even if the Parks had argued one of the grounds, review 

should still be denied because the McNaughton decision does not 
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fall within the grounds for review. The McNaughton decision does 

not conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or another 

Appellate Court because it adheres to the statutes and case law 

relevant to this case. Second, this case does not involve a 

significant question of constitutional law; it involves a contract 

dispute between the Parks and TMG. Additionally, the 

McNaughton decision does not raise an issue of substantial public 

interest because the case turns on the specific facts related to: the 

Parks' breach of the 2005 PSA and failure to plead affirmative 

defenses and the 2005 PSA's satisfaction of the statute of frauds. 

Therefore, the Court should deny review ofthe McNaughton 

decision. Even if review is granted, the McNaughton decision 

should be upheld. 

B. The Denial of Summary Judgment was Proper Because 
the 2005 PSA is Valid and Satisfies the Statute of 
Frauds by Properly Referencing a Legal Description 

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's 

dismissal of the Parks' motion for summary judgment. The statute 

of frauds requires that "[e]very conveyance of real estate, or any 

interest therein, and every contract creating or evidencing any 

encumbrance upon real estate, shall be by deed." RCW 64.04.010. 
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Washington law requires "a description of the land sufficiently 

definite to locate it without recourse to oral testimony" or "a 

reference to another instrument which does contain a sufficient 

legal description". Bigelow v. Mood, 56 Wn.2d 340, 341, 353 

P.2d 429 (1960) (citing Bingham v. Sherfey, 38 Wn.2d 886,234 

P .2d 489 ( 1951) ). The legal description of property in a contract 

can be ascertained by incorporating other documents by reference 

into that contract. Wash. State Major League Baseball Stadium 

Pub. Facilities v. Huber, 176 Wn.2d 502,517,296 P.3d 821 (2013) 

("In general, '[i]f the parties to a contract clearly and 

unequivocally incorporate by reference into their contract some 

other document, that document becomes part of their contract."') 

(quoting Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi, LLC, 167 Wn.2d 781, 

801,225 P.3d 213 (2009); W. Wash. Corp. of Seventh Day 

Adventists v. Ferrellgas, Inc., 102 Wn. App. 488, 494, 7 P.3d 861 

(2000) ("Incorporation by reference allows the parties to 

'incorporate contractual terms by reference to a separate ... 

document which is unsigned.'") (quoting 11 Willston on Contracts 

§ 30:25, at 233-34 (4th ed. 1999)). The document that is 

incorporated by reference does not need to physically be attached 
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to the contract. Knight v. Am. Nat'l Bank, 52 Wn. App. 1, 4-6, 756 

P.2d 757 (1988) (finding that lease complied with statute of frauds 

even though the exhibits to which it referred, and which contained 

the legal description, were not physically attached to the lease). 

Here, the 2005 PSA clearly and unequivocally incorporated 

the Park Addendum by reference: 

In any event, if there arise any dispute over the 
scope of the applicable clause(s) on Specific terms 
of Addendum, 1 through 14, (dated 2/19/2005)[] 
Pre[ v ]ious agreement executed on September 8, 
2004, page 1 through 13, super[s]edes and replaces 
any provision on the topics contained in purchase 
and sale agreement proposed and executed on 
February 19, 2005. 

CP 800, 836. In contrast to the Parks' claim, Addendum B is part 

of the 2005 PSA, despite the 2005 PSA not referring to Addendum 

Bon its face, because it corresponds with a description of one of 

the documents that the 2005 PSA expressly references as an 

attachment to the 2005 PSA. Park Petition, p. 12; CP 827. Thus, 

Addendum B properly references the Park Addendum. 

Respondent's Appellate Br., Ex. 4. 

Contrary to the Parks' claims, the Parks and TMG knew the 

term "previous agreement" referred to the Park Addendum and all 
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parties were aware of the relationships of the documents and the 

effect of signing Addendum B. In fact, Dr. Park insisted that the 

Park Addendum be incorporated into the 2005 PSA. RP 17 5: 18-

1 78: 19; 19 5: 16. The Parks' claim that the agreements were not 

executed on certain dates or attached to the contract fails because 

parties can incorporate contractual terms by referencing an 

unsigned document that is not physically attached to the contract. 

Park Petition, p. 12; W. Wash. Corp., 102 Wn. App. at 494; 

Knight, 52 Wn. App. at 4-6. Therefore, the 2005 PSA complied 

with the statute of frauds because the 2005 PSA properly 

incorporated the Park Addendum that contains legal descriptions 

for each of the Parks' parcels. Thus, the Parks' summary judgment 

motion was properly dismissed. 

C. The Parks Waived the Statute of Frauds Defense by 
Failing to Affirmatively Assert It in Any of Their 
Responsive Pleadings 

The Court of Appeals appropriately held that the Parks 

waived the statute of frauds defense. A defendant must 

affirmatively allege the statute of frauds in a pleading to a 

preceding pleading. Civ. R. 8(c). Affirmative defenses are 

generally waived unless the defense is: (1) affirmatively pleaded; 
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(2) asserted in a CR 12(b) motion; or (3) tried with the parties' 

express or implied consent. Henderson v. Tyrrell, 80 Wn. App. 

592,624,910 P.2d 522 (1996) (holding it was not an abuse of 

discretion to deny jury instructions on a defense defendant failed 

to raise in responsive pleadings because it would require parties to 

engage in substantial new discovery right before trial). 

Here, the Parks did not affirmatively plead, assert in a 12(b) 

motion, or agree with TMG to try the statute of frauds defense. CP 

734-812. Rather, the Parks actually confirmed the 2005 PSA's 

validity in its answer by claiming that TMG had repudiated and 

breached the contract. CP 744 (~6.2), 786 (~6.2). Division I 

confirmed the Parks' waiver of this defense by comparing the 

Parks to the Defendant in Henderson. McNaughton at 4. Similar 

to the Defendant in Henderson, the Parks had ample time to assert 

the statute of frauds defense in its responsive pleadings, but chose 

not to until shortly before trial and after discovery had concluded. 

Henderson, 80 Wn. App. at 625. Thus, the Parks waived the 

statute of frauds defense by not raising it until they moved for 

summary judgment. 

13 



D. The Parks' Parol Evidence Argument is Unfounded 

For the first time, the Parks argue that the parol evidence 

rule bars the legal descriptions in the Park Addendum from being 

incorporated into the 2005 PSA. The Parks may not raise this 

argument for the first time in their petition for review, and the 

court should not consider it. RAP 2.5(a); Bankston v. Pierce 

County, 174 Wn. App. 932, 941, 301 P.3d 495 (2013). 

Regardless, the Parks' argument fails on the merits. The 

parol evidence rule is inapplicable to incorporating the legal 

descriptions in the Park Addendum by reference in the 2005 PSA 

because the Park Addendum is part of the agreement incorporated 

by reference. "Parol evidence is admissible ... for the purpose of 

ascertaining the intention of the parties and properly construing the 

writing." DePhillips v. Zolt Const. Co., Inc., 136 Wn.2d 26, 32, 

959 P.2d 1104 (1998) (en bane) (quoting Berg v. Hudesman, 115 

Wn.2d 657,669, 801 P.2d 222 (1990) (quoting J.W. Seavey Hop 

Corp. v. Pollock, 20 Wn.2d 337, 348-89, 147 P.2d 310 (1944))). 

Parol evidence cannot be used to add to, subtract from, modify, or 

contradict the terms of a fully integrated written contract. 

DePhillips, 136 Wn.2d at 33. If a contract is unenforceable under 
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the statute of frauds, a buyer in a land sale cannot recover 

restitution if the vendor is ready, willing, and able to perform the 

contract. Kofmehl v. Baseline Lake, LLC, 177 Wn.2d 584, 587, 

305 P.3d 230 (2013) (en bane). 

Here, the parol evidence rule does not apply. The 

McNaughton decision makes it clear that the intentions of the 

Parks and TMG were not at issue by stating, "The parties signed 

Addendum B, demonstrating that they knew of and assented to its 

terms." McNaughton at 7. Additionally, parol evidence is not 

necessary to properly construe the 2005 PSA or any other 

agreements between the Parks and TMG. As Division I states, 

"The language of Addendum B clearly and unequivocally 

incorporates a previous agreement." I d. 

Further, the parol evidence rule is not implicated because 

the parties did not add, subtract, modify, or contradict any terms 

relating to the legal descriptions ofthe property. Rather, the effect 

of the incorporation by reference is that the legal descriptions of 

the property are part of the contract and do not change or 

contradict the terms of the 2005 PSA. Accordingly, the Parks' 

parol evidence argument is unfounded because TMG properly 
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incorporated the legal descriptions of the properties by referencing 

the Park Addendum. Because the 2005 PSA satisfies the statute of 

frauds and the Parks were not ready, able, and willing to perform 

under the 2005 PSA, the Parks' parol evidence and restitution 

arguments fail. Park Petition, p. 16; See Kofmehl, 177 Wn.2d at 

587. 

E. TMG's Evidence Was Properly Admitted Because 
TMG Proved the Purpose for Which Each Piece Was 
Offered 

1. The Testimony ofthe Parks' Former Attorney was 
Properly Admitted Because Dr. Parks Opened the 
Door to the Testimony During his Direct 
Examination 

The Court of Appeals correctly held that Han Park waived 

the attorney client privilege when he testified about 

communications with his former attorney, Mr. Home. An attorney 

must not testify about communications between the attorney and 

the client or the advice given to the client without the client's 

consent. RCW 5.60.060(2)(a). If a client testifies about the 

communication with the attorney, the client waives the privilege of 

confidentiality relating to the communications. State v. 

Vandenberg, 19 Wn. App. 182, 186,575 P.2d 254 (1978). 
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Here, Dr. Park waived the attorney client privilege by 

testifying on direct examination that Mr. Home had told him that 

the Parks were entitled to a higher purchase price and that TMG 

had paid Mr. Home to represent the Parks. RP 476:1-6. The 

Parks' argument that the trial court violated their rights by ordering 

Mr. Home to testify is meritless: Dr. Parks voluntarily waived his 

right. Park Petition, p. 17. Even if Mr. Home had not waived his 

right, the trial court phrased the questions in such a way that Mr. 

Homes did not disclose any confidential substantive information in 

his answers. RP 476:2-6; 598:20-24; 599:2-6, 8-11. 

2. The Court Properly Admitted Evidence of the 
Parks' Prior Real Estate Transaction with Michelle 
Construction 

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the trial court did 

not abuse its discretion in admitting evidence of the real estate 

transaction between the Parks and Michelle Construction. Trial 

courts have broad discretion in ruling on evidentiary matters. Cox 

v. Spangler, 141 Wn.2d 431,439,5 P.3d 791 (2000). A trial 

court's ruling on evidentiary matters will not be overturned on 

appeal absent a showing of abuse of discretion. State v. Finch, 13 7 

Wn.2d 792, 810,975 P.2d 967, cert denied, 528 U.S. 922 (1999). 
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If a witness puts its own credibility at issue, the other party may 

offer evidence to impeach the witness's testimony. Tamburello v. 

Dep't of Labor & Indus., 14 Wn. App. 827, 828, 545 P.2d 570 

(1976). 

Here, Dr. Park put his credibility at issue by testifying 

during direct examination that he did not have the intent to: (1) list 

or sell the property in 2004; or (2) sell the property in 2001 

because TMG had a copy of the purchase and sale agreement 

between the Parks and Michelle Construction in 2001. RP 380:6-

23; 525:3-6. Thus, contrary to the Parks' argument that TMG 

offered the evidence to show other acts or character traits, TMG 

offered the 2001 agreement solely for the purpose of impeaching 

Dr. Park because the agreement directly contradicted Dr. Park's 

testimony. Therefore, the trial court properly admitted the 2001 

agreement between the Parks and Michelle Construction. 

3. The Prior Case Was Admissible Because It Was 
Offered for the Purpose of Showing a Common 
Plan or Scheme 

The Parks object to the trial court's admission of an 

appellate decision relating to a prior real estate transaction between 

the Parks and another plaintiff on the basis that it is irrelevant. Park 
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Petition, p. 18. Character evidence is inadmissible to prove 

conformity therewith. See ER 404(a). However, evidence of prior 

bad acts may be admissible for proving motive, intent, common 

scheme, plan, or knowledge. ER 404(b); Saldivar v. Momah, 145 

Wn. App. 365, 395, 186 P.3d 1117 (2008) (finding that a common 

scheme or plan can be established using evidence that the 

defendant committed similar bad acts against similar victims under 

similar circumstances). For the admissibility of prior bad acts, a 

trial court first considers the purpose for which the evidence is 

offered and then balances, on the record, the probative value of the 

evidence against its potential for prejudice. State v. Jackson, 102 

Wn.2d 689, 693-94, 689 P.2d 76 (1984). 

Here, TMG did not offer the appellate opinion to prove 

conformity, but rather to prove the Parks use a common scheme or 

plan for entering into real estate contracts with developers and 

subsequently attempting to enforce new terms. The Parks 

committed similar bad acts (breaching contracts) against similar 

victims (TMG and other developers) and under similar 

circumstances (parties have agreement and new terms are 

introduced at the last minute as a prerequisite for the Parks to 
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perform under the agreement). See Saldivar, 145 Wn. App. at 395. 

The appellate decision clearly illustrates this common scheme or 

plan that the Parks utilize in real estate transactions with 

developers. The probative value of the appellate decision greatly 

outweighs its prejudicial effect because it was offered for the 

limited purpose of proving common scheme or plan. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

The Court should not accept review of the McNaughton 

decision because none of the grounds upon which review can be 

granted under RAP 13.4(b) are met. However, even ifthe Court 

does accept review, the McNaughton decision should be upheld 

because the Parks had waived the statute of frauds defense, the 

2005 PSA complied with the statute of frauds, and all of the 

evidence was properly admitted.